THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE SUPREME COURT

---

RECEIVED

AUG - 8 2016

APPEAL FROM SPARTANBURG COUNTY  
Court of General Sessions

SC SUPREME COURT

THE HONORABLE J. DERHAM COLE, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2015-002221

---

The State, Respondent

v.

Alphonso Chaves Thompson, Petitioner

---

**PETITIONER'S BRIEF**

---

Michael Patrick Scott  
NEXSEN PRUET, LLC  
1230 Main Street, Suite 700  
Columbia, SC 29201  
PHONE: 803.540.2157

Robert M. Dudek  
Chief Appellate Defender  
South Carolina Commission on Indigent  
Defense, Appellate Division  
1330 Lady Street, Suite 401  
P.O. Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29201-1589  
PHONE: 803.734.1330

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Did the Court of Appeals err in upholding the trial court's denial of Petitioner's suppression motion where the affidavit established Petitioner likely sold drugs but did not provide a substantial basis to conclude that drugs would be found at River Street on the day of the search?

## INTRODUCTION

Any unbiased reader of the affidavit in this case would conclude that Petitioner Alphonso Thompson was probably a drug dealer. Whether that same reader would find a substantial basis to conclude that cocaine would be in his parents' house on May 13, 2010 is another matter entirely. Then—Chief Judge Few would not. The trial court, and two Judges of the Court of Appeals, did.

In so doing, the panel majority committed a critical error. Instead of searching the affidavit for a substantial, timely nexus between the particular evidence sought—cocaine—and the particular place to be searched—Petitioner's parents' house—, the panel majority incorrectly focused on more generalized statements supporting the assumption that Petitioner likely sold drugs. Numerous courts, both state and federal, have rejected this approach. For the reasons that follow, this Court should as well and reverse Petitioner's convictions in their entirety.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

### I. BACKGROUND

In May of 2010, Petitioner Alphonso Chaves Thompson, aka “Pooh Bear” was arrested and later charged with drug and gun crimes after both were found at his parents’ home at 121 River Street (“River Street”)<sup>1</sup> in the Drayton community of Spartanburg. (App. p.8, ll.10–15; p.35, ll.14–23). At the time of his arrest, and for several years prior, Petitioner lived in Fountain Inn, Greenville County. (App. p.35, ll.16–17; p.43, ll.6–10; p.235, l.3 – p.236, l.4).

### II. THE INVESTIGATIONS

*\*As this is a search warrant case, these facts are drawn primarily from the Spartanburg County Narcotics Division’s (SCND) warrant affidavit.*

#### A. The First Investigation: 2007-2009

In June of 2007, two confidential informants told Investigator Chris Raymond of the SCND they were buying cocaine from Petitioner. (App. p.4). In 2008, an informant told Investigator Raymond that Petitioner resided “at the end of River St.” In January of 2009, “two more different” informants identified Petitioner as a cocaine supplier. (App. p.4).

In February of 2009, Jose Luis Diaz-Arroyo was arrested while transporting a kilogram of cocaine. (App. p.4). According to Investigator Raymond, after Diaz-Arroyo was arrested he (Diaz-Arroyo) stated that his brother-in-law, Alejandro Sosa-Galvan, was supplying Petitioner with cocaine “at this River St.” address. (App. p.4).

---

<sup>1</sup> At trial, the home was alternatively referred to as River “Drive” and River “Street.” The Court of Appeals used River “Street” and Petitioner does the same here.

In July of 2009, task force officers<sup>2</sup> had an unknown informant conduct a “controlled buy” that did not involve River Street. Petitioner was not arrested or charged. (App. p.5).

**B. The Second Investigation: 2010**

On May 11, 2010, officers bought cocaine from a man named Arthur Jones. When Jones was subsequently arrested, he told the officers he was buying cocaine from Petitioner and agreed to cooperate. (*Id.*) The following day, May 12, Jones called Petitioner’s cell phone. (*Id.*) Petitioner later arrived at Jones’s home, took money from Jones, and left—no drugs were exchanged. (*Id.*; p.45, ll.1–12). Notably, the affidavit does not say Petitioner left for Jones’s home from River Street or that he visited River Street when he departed.

**III. THE WARRANT**

That same day, Investigator Raymond applied to Circuit Court Judge Hayes for a warrant to search River Street.<sup>3</sup> The affidavit was the only basis for the River Street search because Investigator Raymond did not present any sworn testimony. (App. p.12, l.19 – p.13, l.2; p.52, ll.3–4; p. 3-5p.51, l.17 – p. 52, l.5).

Conspicuously absent from this affidavit—the vast majority of which details an investigation that took place two to three years prior to the search—is any indication as to

---

<sup>2</sup> This case arose from a joint federal/state task force investigation and included officers from the SCND and the Drug Enforcement Administration.

<sup>3</sup> Curiously, Investigator Raymond sought and obtained an arrest warrant for Petitioner on the same day but from a different judge—Spartanburg magistrate Charles Jones. (App. p.86, ll.3–5; App. p.1).

how or why the informants were supposedly reliable.<sup>4</sup> In particular, it does not explain who Sosa-Galvan—the only informant who specifically linked drugs to River Street—is, let alone explain why he was allegedly reliable. Indeed, the only Sosa-Galvan “statement” in the affidavit is not even his statement. Instead, it is a hearsay statement from Diaz-Arroyo about Sosa-Galvan delivering drugs to River Street—a year and a half before the search.<sup>5</sup>

Of equal importance, the affidavit provides virtually no explanation of what the officers were doing between February 2009—when Diaz-Arroyo told them about River Street—and May 13, 2010—when they actually executed the search warrant. In sum, the affidavit does not establish with any specificity why drugs were going to be found at River Street that day.

#### IV. MAY 13, 2010

##### A. The Searches

On May 13, 2010, officers simultaneously executed search warrants at Petitioner’s home on Larchwood Drive in Greenville; his girlfriend’s home on Tamara

---

<sup>4</sup> Investigator Raymond creatively referred to the informants as “Confidential Reliable Informants” or “CRIs.” Calling someone reliable does not make it so. *Compare U.S. v. Wilhelm*, 80 F.3d 116, 121 (4th Cir. 1996) (affidavit describing informant as “concerned citizen,” “mature person,” and as having a “truthful demeanor” does not cover for fact that no evidence of reliability has been provided); *with U.S. v. Bynum*, 125 F.Supp.2d 772, 787 (E.D. Va. 2000) (label of “Confidential Reliable Informant” acceptable where affidavit showed: (1) informant had given information for eight years; (2) past information had led to seizure of guns, drugs, and convictions; (3) information had been verified by independent sources such as the DMV, criminal history checks, and other warrants and arrests) *overruled on other grounds by U.S. v. Bynum*, 293 F.3d 192 (4th Cir. 2002)).

<sup>5</sup> *See, e.g., State v. Sullivan*, 267 S.C. 610, 615-16, 230 S.E.2d 621, 623-24 (1976) (although “double-hearsay” statements not “categorically” barred from warrant affidavits, each statement must be evaluated to determine “whether it can be reasonably inferred that the informant had gained his information in a reliable way”).

Way; and River Street in Spartanburg. (App. p.7, ll.12–22; p.8, ll.4–9). No drugs or any other contraband were found at Larchwood Drive or Tamara Way.

### **B. The Arrest and Confession**

With the searches underway, but before anything was found, officers arrested Petitioner at his body shop, Ridiculous Rides, and transported him to River Street. (App. p.84, l.21 – p.85, l.19; p.86, ll.19–21; p.145, l.24 – p. 146, l.13). He was arrested pursuant to a separate warrant based on the Jones “transaction” that did not actually involve any drugs. (App. p.52, l.14 – p.53, l.13; p.85, ll. 3–11; p.88, l.17 – p.89, l.6).

During a four-hour interrogation at River Street, Investigator Raymond and DEA Special Agent Russell Davis told Petitioner they found drugs and weapons on the property. (App. p.245, ll.6–7; p.247, ll.2–15). When Petitioner denied any knowledge of either, both repeatedly told him they would arrest his parents if he did not confess. (App. p.247, l.13 – p.248, l.9). Petitioner believed his elderly father could not survive in jail so he confessed to the drugs; he did not confess to owning, or even mention, any weapons. (App. p.74, l.3 – p.75, l.17; pp. 2-5).

## **V. THE FEDERAL CASE<sup>6</sup>**

### **A. The Conspiracy Charge**

In October of 2010, Petitioner was indicted for the federal crime of conspiracy to distribute narcotics. (App. p.8, l.25 – p.9, l.3). Greenville County, where Petitioner resided, commenced asset forfeiture proceedings and seized currency found at Petitioner’s house on Larchwood Drive. (App. p.9, ll.7–9).

---

<sup>6</sup> This section is drawn from trial counsel’s background recitation to the trial court during the state court suppression hearing.

## **B. Charge Dismissed**

Three months later, after voluminous discovery and several motions, the U.S. Attorney dismissed the conspiracy charge. (App. p.9, ll.10–13). According to trial counsel—who represented Petitioner in federal and state court—assistant U.S. Attorney Mormon stated that he (Mormon) had misgivings about the probable cause for River Street from the beginning, which the discovery process did not alleviate. (App. p.9, ll.14–20).

Again, according to Mr. Mormon, prior to Judge Hayes issuing the search warrant, two federal magistrates rejected the affidavit and Mormon did not believe there was probable cause for the search. (App. p.10, ll.13–18). Greenville County withdrew forfeiture proceedings and returned Petitioner’s money, indicating that they could not carry their burden of proof. (App. p.11, ll.12–16).

## **VI. THE STATE’S CASE**

Following the federal dismissal, Petitioner was indicted in Spartanburg County for the same drugs on charges of trafficking cocaine 400 grams; possession of marijuana with intent to distribute; and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. (App. p.11, ll.5–11; pp. 356-59).

### **A. Suppression Hearing**

During an extensive pre-trial suppression hearing, Petitioner argued the affidavit: (1) did not establish that drugs were likely to be found at River Street on the day of the

search;<sup>7</sup> (2) failed to demonstrate the informants' reliability; (3) provided stale information; and (4) was filled with conclusory statements.<sup>8</sup> (App. p.60, l.12 – p.89, l.17). Petitioner's motion was denied. (*Id.*).

## B. Trial

Not a single witness testified Petitioner owned or exercised dominion and control over River Street and the State did not produce fingerprints or any other link between Petitioner and the drugs. (App. p.226, l.22 – p.229, l.20). Nonetheless, Petitioner's directed verdict motion was denied. (App. p.230, ll.6–9; p.230, l.15 – p.231, l.8).

Following Petitioner's testimony, where he again denied knowledge of the drugs and weapons, the jury found him guilty on all three counts. (App. p.259, ll.12–14; p.327, l. 7 – p.328, l.24). The trial court sentenced Petitioner to concurrent terms of twenty-five, five, and five years' imprisonment, respectively. (App. p.330, ll.5–21).

## VII. THE COURT OF APPEALS

On appeal, Petitioner argued, *inter alia*, that: (1) the trial court erred in denying his suppression motion; (2) all evidence at River Street should have been suppressed as fruit of the poisonous tree; (3) the good faith exception did not apply; and (4) the trial court's error was prejudicial and not harmless. (App. pp. 391-401; pp. 456-468).

---

<sup>7</sup> No one disputes that Petitioner did not reside at or own River Street. Petitioner's mother was purchasing the home from Ernest Grant, the homeowner, via a lease-to-own contract. (App. p.93, l.23 – p.96, l.25; p.101, l.21 – p.102, l.7; p.239, l.14 – p.240, l.14; pp. 346-49). An officer on the search team testified Petitioner did not live there and the arrest warrant listed Petitioner's address as 110 Larchwood Dr. Simpsonville, SC. (App. p. 1; p.135, ll.18–23). The trial court found, and the State has not disputed, that Petitioner had a reasonable expectation of privacy in the home. (App. pp. 30-44).

<sup>8</sup> The State argued that an informants' reliability does not "ha[ve] to be corroborated" or "identified as reliable" and asked the trial court to place "great weight" on the fact that another circuit court judge, instead of a magistrate, issued the warrant. (App. p.45, ll.21–24; p.47, ll.14–19). The State provided no support for these theories because there is none.

### A. The Panel Majority

By published opinion, a panel majority for the Court of Appeals disagreed. Although the majority agreed “the affidavit fail[ed] to set forth information as to the veracity, reliability or basis of knowledge of several of the informants referenced” and that both Jeter’s and Meadows’s statements and the critical Diaz-Arroyo double-hearsay statement (the only specific link between drugs and River Street) were “somewhat stale,” the majority ultimately concluded there was a “fair probability that contraband or evidence of a crime would be found at 120 River Street, and the judge therefore had a substantial basis upon which to conclude that probable cause existed for issuance of the search warrant.” (App. p.482, 484).<sup>9</sup> Accordingly, the trial court’s ruling and Petitioner’s convictions were affirmed. (App. p.489).

### B. The Dissent

Then—Chief Judge Few dissented. He focused on the fact that River Street was not Petitioner’s house and that the affidavit contained “no specific facts showing any connection between [Petitioner’s] drug-related activity and the River Street home after February 11, 2009 [the date of Diaz-Arroyo’s statement about Sosa-Galvan].” *Thompson*, (App. p.490) (Few, C.J., dissenting). Chief Judge Few recognized that the officers’ “conclusory descriptions” of Petitioner’s activities between July 2009 and May 2010 compared with their specific detail of his pre-July 2009 activities raised “serious questions” as to why that detail was lacking. (App. p.491). Because the affidavit “did not provide the judge with a substantial basis for a finding of probable cause that

---

<sup>9</sup> The opinion in this case can be found at 413 S.C. 590, 776 S.E.2d 413, (Ct. App. 2015). All citations herein are to the opinion reproduced in the Appendix.

evidence of [Petitioner's] drug-related activity would be found at River Street[,]” Chief Judge Few would have reversed Petitioner’s convictions in their entirety. *Id.*

The Court of Appeals denied Petitioner’s timely Petition for Rehearing. Petitioner timely filed a Petition for Certiorari to the Court of Appeals and, on June 16, 2016, this Court—Justice Few not participating—granted the Petition.

This appeal followed.

## ARGUMENT

### **I. THE AFFIDAVIT DID NOT PROVIDE A SUBSTANTIAL BASIS TO BELIEVE DRUGS WOULD BE AT RIVER STREET ON THE DAY OF THE SEARCH.<sup>10</sup>**

Because “[t]he critical element in a reasonable search is not that the owner of the property is suspected of crime but that there is reasonable cause to believe that the specific ‘things’ to be searched for and seized are located on the property to which entry is sought,” *Zurcher v. Stanford Daily*, 436 U.S. 547, 556, a suspect’s status as a drug dealer, standing alone, does not give rise to a fair probability that drugs will be found in his home. *United States v. Brown*, --- F.3d ----, 2016 WL 3584723, at \*5 (6th Cir. 2016). Thus, “if the affidavit fails to include facts that directly connect the residence with the suspected drug dealing activity, or the evidence of this connection is unreliable, it cannot be inferred that drugs will be found in the defendant’s home—even if the defendant is a known drug dealer.” *Id.* at \*6.

Rather, courts require evidence supporting three preliminary premises: (1) that the person suspected of drug dealing is actually a drug dealer; (2) that the place to be searched is possessed by, or the domicile of, the dealer; and (3) that the home contains contraband linking it to the dealer’s activities. *U.S. v. Stearn*, 597 F.3d 540, 559 (3d. Cir. 2010); *see also Brown*, 2016 WL 3584723, at \*5 (requiring “some reliable evidence

---

<sup>10</sup> Before the Court of Appeals, Petitioner argued the affidavit was defective pursuant to the Fourth Amendment, Article I, section 10, of the South Carolina Constitution, and section 17-13-140 of the South Carolina Code. (App. p.427). Petitioner continues to press all three as independent bases to reverse his convictions here. The Federal Constitutional standard creates a floor, not a ceiling, when it comes to protecting individual rights, leaving states free to provide greater protections. *Brigham City v. Stuart*, 547 U.S. 398, 409 (Stevens, J., concurring). South Carolina has done so here. *See State v. Weaver*, 374 S.C. 313, 321-22, 649 S.E.2d 479, 483 (2007) (South Carolina constitution offers higher level of privacy protection); *State v. Herring*, 387 S.C. 201, 214-15, 692 S.E.2d 490, 497 (2009) (code section imposes stricter requirements than Fourth Amendment). The affidavit here does not reach the floor, let alone the ceiling. Therefore, Petitioner focuses primarily on cases involving the Fourth Amendment.

connecting the known drug dealer's ongoing criminal activity to the residence" including timely facts showing the residence had been used in drug trafficking, such as an informant who observed drug deals or drug paraphernalia in or around the residence); *U.S. v. Burton*, 288 F.3d 91, 104 (3d. Cir. 2002) (magistrate may not infer probable cause to search a defendant's residence solely from evidence suggesting he is a drug dealer); *State v. Allman*, 781 S.E.2d 311, 316 (N.C. 2016) (upholding suppression because affidavit included facts establishing defendant was a drug dealer but did not indicate that affiant "observed or received information that drugs were possessed or sold" at the residence in question); *State v. Thein*, 138 Wash.2d 133, 148, 977 P.2d 582, 589 (Wash. 1999) (en banc) ("We reiterate that probable cause to believe that a man has committed a crime does not necessarily give rise to probable cause to search his home.").

Investigator Raymond's affidavit showed—at best—that Petitioner sold drugs. It did not establish a timely link between drugs and a residence that all agree was not even his own.

#### A. Standard of Review

On appeals from a motion to suppress, this Court applies a deferential standard of review and will reverse if there is clear error. *State v. Tindall*, 388 S.C. 518, 521, 698 S.E.2d 203, 205 (2010). However, this deference does not bar this Court from conducting its own review of the record to determine whether the trial judge's decision was supported by the evidence. *Id.*

In conducting its own review, this Court must ensure the issuing judge had a substantial basis upon which to conclude that probable cause existed. *State v. Baccus*, 367 S.C. 41, 50, 625 S.E.2d 216, 221 (2006). In so doing, this Court can consider only

information brought to the magistrate's attention. *State v. Gentile*, 373 S.C. 506, 513, 646 S.E.2d 171, 174 (Ct. App. 2007).

### B. Totality of the Circumstances Test

This Court's review of the affidavit is governed by the totality of the circumstances test under which all circumstances, including status, basis of knowledge and veracity of the informants ("reliability"), the timeliness of the informants' information ("staleness"), and whether the *things to be searched for* were likely to be found *in the residence in question*, at the *time of the search* ("nexus"). *Illinois v. Gates*, 462 U.S. 213, 230 (1983); *Zurcher*, 436 U.S. at 556; *State v. Weston*, 329 S.C. 287, 290-91, 494 S.E.2d 801, 802-803 (1997).

### C. The Majority Erred

Reprinted in full by the Court of Appeals, the affidavit spans more than 2 pages with 53 sentences. (App. p.3-5). River Street is referenced a sum total of 4 times. The affidavit generally, and the 4 pieces of information cited by the majority specifically, *Thompson*, (App. p.483), did not provide the issuing judge a *substantial basis* from which to conclude that drugs would be *at River Street* on the *day of the search*. In sum, the informants provided unreliable stale information that barely mentioned River Street.

**2007 and 2008:** In June of 2007 Investigators from the Spartanburg County Sheriff's Office Narcotics Division had two different Confidential Reliable Informants (CRI) give information that they had been buying large amounts of cocaine from a black male that they only knew as "POO BEAR." These two CRI's stated that several large cocaine transactions took place [sic] over the course of several months. These CRI's furnished information that was able to be corroborated such as vehicle descriptions and photo identifications. Both CRI's stated that they knew POO BEAR to drive a gray in color Honda Accord Station wagon when he would conduct these deals. It was learned through this Investigation that "POO BEAR"

was positively identified as Alfonso [sic] Thompson and he also had an F350 Ford Dually blue and Gold in color.

The panel majority correctly ignored this section. It contains information from two unidentified informants concerning drug transactions two and three years before the search and does not refer to River Street at all.

**Jeter and Meadows:** In **August of 2007** the SCSO Narcotics Division arrested Keith Jeter who stated that he was being supplied 4 1/2 - 9 oz. of cocaine at a time from Alfonso [sic] Thompson aka "POO BEAR." Jeter further stated that "POO BEAR" would bring the cocaine to his residence on Huxley St. in Spartanburg City. In **September of 2008** the SCSO Narcotics Division interviewed a [sic] individual named Fred Meadows who stated that he was being supplied cocaine from "POO BEAR" and that "POO BEAR" drove a blue and gold Ford F-350 Dually. Meadows further stated that he grew up with "POO BEAR" in the city and has known him for a long time. Meadows stated that "POO BEAR" would deliver the cocaine to his house on Virginia St.

For several reasons, the majority erroneously relied on the information from Jeter and Meadows. *See Thompson*, (App. p.483) (identifying this information as supporting probable cause and listing Jeter and Meadows as two of four "named sources").

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