STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

RECEIVED

AUG 31 2016

On Writ of Certiorari to the Court of Appeals
Appeal from Spartanburg County
Honorable J. Derham Cole, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2015-002221

S.C. SUPREME COURT

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

ALPHONSO CHAVES THOMPSON,

Petitioner.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

MARK R. FARTHING
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

BARRY J. BARNETTE
Solicitor, Seventh Judicial Circuit

180 Magnolia Street
Spartanburg, SC 29306
(864) 596-2575

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

The Court of Appeals correctly affirmed the trial judge's ruling denying Thompson's suppression motion because the information contained in the search warrant affidavit provided the circuit court judge who issued the search warrant with a substantial basis upon which he could conclude there was a fair probability drugs and other incriminating evidence would be found at the River Street residence connected to Thompson. However, even assuming the search warrant affidavit was insufficient to establish a probable cause basis for the search of the River Street residence, the Court of Appeals nonetheless correctly affirmed the denial of Thompson's suppression motion because the good faith exception to the exclusionary rule would have been applicable in Thompson's case as the law enforcement officers who conducted the search of the residence relied on the judicially-issued search warrant in objective good faith and the lengthy, detailed search warrant affidavit was not so lacking in indicia of probable cause that belief in and reliance on its validity was objectively unreasonable.

Thompson contends the Court of Appeals reversibly erred by affirming the trial judge's ruling denying the motion to suppress the drugs and other evidence recovered during the search of the River Street residence. In support of that contention, Thompson maintains the search warrant affidavit did not provide a substantial basis upon which it could reasonably be concluded drugs and other incriminating evidence would be found at that residence on the day of the search. To the contrary, the lengthy and detailed search warrant affidavit prepared in Thompson's case contained substantial information in regard to Thompson's involvement in large-scale drug activity that took place over the course of nearly three years and was still ongoing just days before the search warrant was sought and obtained. Furthermore, the search warrant affidavit provided reliable information directly connecting Thompson's drug activity to the River Street residence, and that information was supplied by both confidential informants and known, non-anonymous informants who could be held accountable if the information they supplied proved to be false. Under those circumstances, the search warrant affidavit provided the issuing judge with a substantial basis upon which to find probable cause existed for a search of the River Street residence. As a result, the trial judge properly denied Thompson's suppression motion and

admitted the incriminating evidence during trial, and the Court of Appeals correctly affirmed the trial judge's ruling. However, even assuming the Court of Appeals, the trial judge, and the circuit judge who issued the search warrant somehow erred in finding the search warrant affidavit provided a substantial basis for a finding of probable cause, Thompson's suppression motion was nonetheless properly denied because the good faith exception to the exclusionary rule would have been applicable under the facts and circumstances of Thompson's case as the lengthy, detailed search warrant affidavit was not so lacking in indicia of probable cause to render official belief in its existence entirely unreasonable and the officers who relied on the search warrant that was issued did so in objective good faith. Accordingly, for the foregoing reasons, both Thompson's convictions and the decision of the Court of Appeals should be affirmed.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

In criminal cases, appellate courts sit to review errors of law only. State v. Baccus, 367 S.C. 41, 48, 625 S.E.2d 216, 220 (2006). In Fourth Amendment search and seizure cases, the appellate court is limited to determining if there is any evidence to support the trial court's findings and can only reverse due to clear error. State v. Flowers, 360 S.C. 1, 5, 598 S.E.2d 725, 727 (Ct. App. 2004); see State v. Brockman, 339 S.C. 57, 66, 528 S.E.2d 661, 666 (2000) (“[W]e will review the trial court's ruling like any other factual finding and reverse if there is clear error. We will affirm if there is any evidence to support the ruling.”). The reviewing court may conduct its own review of the record to determine whether the trial judge's ruling is supported by the evidence. State v. Khingratsaiphon, 352 S.C. 62, 70, 572 S.E.2d 456, 460 (2002). However, the appellate court must affirm the trial court if there is any evidence supporting the ruling. See State v. Moore, 415 S.C. 245, 251, 781 S.E.2d 897, 900 (2016) (“[A]ppellate courts must affirm

if there is any evidence to support the trial court’s ruling.”); State v. Morris, 411 S.C. 571, 578, 769 S.E.2d 854, 858 (2015) (“ ‘When reviewing a Fourth Amendment search and seizure case, an appellate court must affirm if there is any evidence to support the ruling.’ ” (citation omitted)). Critically, the appellate court will not reverse merely because it would have reached a different conclusion than the trial judge. State v. Rivera, 384 S.C. 356, 361, 682 S.E.2d 307, 310 (Ct. App. 2009); see Khingratsaphon, 352 S.C. at 70, 572 S.E.2d at 459 (“In State v. Brockman, . . . [w]e concluded the appellate court would not review the trial judge’s ultimate determination de novo but, rather, would apply a deferential standard of review.”).

ANALYSIS

A. Propriety of the Ruling Denying Thompson’s Suppression Motion

The Fourth Amendment protects “[t]he right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, papers, and effects, against unreasonable searches and seizures.” U.S. Const. amend. IV. Likewise, the South Carolina Constitution similarly protects our citizens from “unreasonable searches and seizures and unreasonable invasions of privacy[.]” S.C. Const. art. I, § 10. Significantly, based on the plain language of the state and federal constitutional provisions regarding searches and seizures, the touchstone of those provisions is reasonableness. See Florida v. Jimeno, 500 U.S. 248, 250 (1991) (“The touchstone of the Fourth Amendment is reasonableness.”). As a result, **only** unreasonable searches and seizures are constitutionally prohibited, and law enforcement officers are not required to be perfect or mistake-free in order to be in compliance with the constitutional requirements regarding searches and seizures. State v. Foster, 269 S.C. 373, 378, 237 S.E.2d 589, 591 (1977); see Maryland v. Buie, 494 U.S. 325, 331 (1990) (“It goes without saying that the Fourth Amendment bars only unreasonable searches and seizures[.]”); see also Heien v. North Carolina, ___ U.S. ___, 135 S. Ct. 530, 536 (2014) (“To be

reasonable is not to be perfect, and so the Fourth Amendment allows for some mistakes on the part of government officials, giving them ‘fair leeway for enforcing the law in the community’s protection.’ ” (citation omitted)).

In South Carolina, an affiant seeking to obtain a search warrant must present a sworn affidavit to a judge presenting grounds sufficient to establish probable cause in order to justify the issuance of the warrant. State v. Bellamy, 336 S.C. 140, 143, 519 S.E.2d 347, 348-349 (1999); see S.C. Code Ann. § 17-13-140 (“A warrant issued hereunder shall be issued only upon affidavit sworn to before the magistrate, municipal judicial officer, or judge of a court of record establishing the grounds for the warrant.”); see also Illinois v. Gates, 462 U.S. 213, 238 (1983) (identifying probable cause as “a fair probability that contraband or evidence of a crime will be found”). In State v. Williams, 262 S.C. 186, 189, 203 S.E.2d 436, 437-438 (1974), this Court explained probable cause as it relates to the issuance of a search warrant:

In order to justify the issuance of a search warrant, probable cause must be shown, but the term ‘probable cause’ does not import absolute certainty. In determining whether there is sufficient evidence to sustain a finding of probable cause, each case stands on its own facts. The evidence need not be sufficient to support a conviction, or a verdict of guilty, or to establish guilt beyond a reasonable doubt; nor need the proof be positive, it being enough if it is such as to induce in the mind of the issuing officer an honest belief that the facts set forth exist, or as would lead a man of prudence to believe that the offense has been committed.

(citation omitted).

In deciding whether to issue a search warrant, the issuing judge must “make a practical, common-sense decision whether, given all the circumstances set forth in the affidavit before him, including the ‘veracity’ and ‘basis of knowledge’ of persons supplying hearsay information, there is a fair probability that contraband or evidence of a crime will be found in a particular place.” Gates, 462 U.S. at 238. In making the probable cause determination, “[issuing judges] are concerned with probabilities and not certainties.” State v. Sullivan, 267 S.C. 610, 617, 230

S.E.2d 621, 624 (1976). Importantly, the issuing judge must view the search warrant affidavit in a common-sense and realistic fashion and give consideration to the fact such affidavits are typically prepared by non-lawyers in the haste of criminal investigations. State v. Arnold, 319 S.C. 256, 260, 460 S.E.2d 403, 405 (Ct. App. 1995).

Furthermore, in making such a probable cause determination in a case where an affiant relied upon information supplied by a confidential informant, the informant's veracity, reliability, and basis of knowledge are highly relevant towards a determination of the value of the informant's information. Gates, 462 U.S. at 238. However, those elements related to the informant are **not** "entirely separate and independent requirements to be rigidly exacted in every case" and, instead, "should be understood simply as closely intertwined issues that may usefully illuminate the commonsense, practical question whether there is 'probable cause' to believe that contraband or evidence is located in a particular place." Id. at 230.

When reviewing a decision to issue a search warrant, the reviewing court should decide whether the issuing judge had a substantial basis for concluding probable cause existed. State v. Dupree, 354 S.C. 676, 683, 583 S.E.2d 437, 441 (Ct. App. 2003). Applying the same standard as the issuing judge, the court should base its determination on the **totality of the circumstances**. State v. Keith, 356 S.C. 219, 223, 588 S.E.2d 145, 147 (Ct. App. 2003); see United States v. Woosley, 361 F.3d 924, 926 (6th Cir. 2004) ("The affidavit should be reviewed in a commonsense – rather than a hypertechnical – manner, and the court should consider whether the totality of the circumstances supports a finding of probable cause, **rather than engaging in line-by-line scrutiny.**" (emphasis added)); Henson v. State, 440 S.W.3d 732, 740 (Tex. App. 2013) ("[I]t is impermissible to employ a 'divide-and-conquer' or 'piecemeal' approach to analyzing the information upon which the magistrate found probable cause to exist."). The

issuing judge's probable cause determination should be afforded great deference on appeal.

State v. Rutledge, 373 S.C. 312, 316, 644 S.E.2d 789, 791 (Ct. App. 2007). Significantly, “[s]earches based on warrants will be given judicial deference to the extent that an otherwise marginal search may be justified if it meets a realistic standard of probable cause.” Id.

“Suppression is appropriate in only a few situations, including when an affidavit is ‘so lacking in indicia of probable cause as to render official belief in its existence entirely unreasonable.’ ”

State v. Weston, 329 S.C. 287, 293, 494 S.E.2d 801, 804 (1997) (citation omitted).

In the case sub judice, the search warrant affidavit presented to the issuing judge included largely first-hand information provided by a total of **ten** different informants – some acting in a confidential capacity and some not – regarding Thompson’s repeated and consistent involvement in large-scale drug activity. See Draper v. United States, 358 U.S. 307, 311 (1959) (recognizing probable cause can be established by evidence – including hearsay evidence – that would not be admissible during trial or sufficient to prove guilt during trial); see also State v. Dunbar, 361 S.C. 240, 249, 603 S.E.2d 615, 620 (Ct. App. 2004) (“Certainly, magistrates can issue search warrants based upon hearsay information that is not a result of direct personal observations of the affiant.”). Significantly, because a number of the informants were not confidential or anonymous and, instead, were known to the officers and, thus, could be held accountable for their statements had they proven to be false, the information provided by those informants was inherently reliable and could be reasonably relied upon by the investigating officers and the circuit court judge who ultimately issued the search warrant, particularly given that some of the informants’ statements constituted self-incriminating admissions to their own involvement in drug activity. See State v. Driggers, 322 S.C. 506, 511, 473 S.E.2d 57, 60 (Ct. App. 1996) (“[A] non-confidential informant should be given a higher level of credibility because he exposes

himself to public view and to possible criminal and civil liability should the information he supplied prove to be false.”); see also United States v. Harris, 403 U.S. 573, 583-584 (1971) (“Common sense in the important daily affairs of life would induce a prudent and disinterested observer to credit these statements. People do not lightly admit to a crime and place critical evidence in the hands of the police in the form of their own admissions. Admissions of crime, like admissions against proprietary interests, carry their own indicia of credibility – sufficient at least to support a finding of probable cause to search. That the informant may be paid or promised a ‘break’ does not eliminate the residual risk and opprobrium of having admitted criminal conduct.”); United States v. Christmas, 222 F.3d 141, 144 (4th Cir. 2000) (“Unlike the anonymous tipster, a witness who directly approaches a police officer can also be held accountable for false statements. As the [United States] Supreme Court has observed, citizens who personally report crimes to the police thereby make themselves accountable for lodging false complaints.”). Furthermore, the information provided by the non-anonymous informants was consistent with and served to corroborate the information provided by the confidential informants, and the officers further corroborated many details reported by the informants, including the details regarding the vehicles used by Thompson, Thompson’s use of the name “Poo Bear,” and Thompson’s connection to the River Street residence. See United States v. Barnard, 299 F.3d 90, 94-95 (1st Cir. 2002) (finding a confidential informant’s statement to be reliable where it was corroborated by statements from another confidential source); see also United States v. Spry, 190 F.3d 829, 836 (7th Cir. 1999) (“In the case under consideration, *multiple* informants provided information which the police were able to partially corroborate. Thus, neither the uncertainty of the reliability of the informants, nor the age of the information in the warrant affidavit should give this Court cause to overrule and hold

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